In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JACOB TOWNLEY HERNANDEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S178823

FILED WITH PERMISSION

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 1 3 2010

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H031992 Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
Santa Cruz County Superior Court, Case No. F12934
The Honorable Jeff Almquist, Judge Deputy

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the trial court's order, precluding counsel from discussing with the defendant a sealed declaration of a testifying prosecution witness and a transcript of that witness's plea-bargain proceedings, amounted to a complete deprivation of the right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment not amenable to harmless error review, or instead implicated the right to "effective" assistance of counsel so that the defendant must demonstrate probable prejudice to establish a Sixth Amendment violation and to obtain reversal of the judgment?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Townley¹ and three accomplices were charged with attempted murder of Javier Lazaro. Before trial, two accomplices entered plea bargains, under which they were required to provide declarations under penalty of perjury that detailed the offense. The trial court sealed the declarations and the change-of-plea transcripts to prevent proof that the two accomplices had inculpated others in the crime from circulating within the prison system, possibly endangering their lives.

One of those two accomplices, Flores, later testified for the prosecution in a joint trial of Townley and the remaining codefendant. As part of pretrial discovery, Townley's attorney had received sheriff's department reports that summarized two statements by Flores and a copy of a tape-recorded interview with Flores. Townley's counsel also received copies of Flores's plea-bargain declaration and the change-of-plea transcript in Flores's case, for use in counsel's cross-examination of Flores, but counsel was ordered not to show those documents to, or discuss their content with, Townley or anyone else, including a defense investigator.

¹ For the sake of clarity, we refer to appellant as Townley because that is the name used in the opinion below by the Court of Appeal.

Townley and the codefendant were convicted of attempted premeditated murder, and the jury found that Townley had personally used a gun and personally inflicted great bodily injury.

The Court of Appeal found that the trial court's consultative restriction on Townley's counsel regarding the sealed documents in Flores's case was not narrowly tailored or adequately justified by a sufficient showing of potential danger to Flores, and, accordingly, held the trial court's order was error. Although federal court decisions validate consultative restrictions on confidential topics in appropriate circumstances (see, e.g., *In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa* (2d Cir. 2008) 552 F.3d 93, 118, 120-128; *Morgan v. Bennett* (2d Cir. 2000) 204 F.3d 360, 365-368; *United States v. Padilla* (2d Cir. 2000) 203 F.3d 156, 158-160), the People do not challenge the Court of Appeal's finding that the record fails to support the restriction in this case. (*People v. Hernandez* (Nov. 9, 2009, H031992) at pp. 20-22 (hereafter "Typed Opn.").)

The People do challenge the Court of Appeal's holding that the consultative restriction amounted to a per se violation of Townley's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel that required reversal without inquiring into the impact of the ban on counsel's performance or on the outcome of the trial. As will be shown, the error here does not fall within the limited category of errors warranting a "presumption" of counsel's ineffectiveness; nor is it one of the rare "structural" defects in trial proceedings that is unamenable to harmless-error review.

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeal must be reversed and the matter remanded with directions for the appellate court to determine whether the assumed error adversely affected counsel's performance in a manner that prejudiced the outcome of the trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural Background

Javier Lazaro was innocently out walking when he was chased by three men alighting from a passing car and shot multiple times. Following an investigation, Townley, Ruben Rocha, Jesse Carranco, and Noe Flores were arrested and charged with attempted murder.² (Typed Opn. at p. 2.)

On January 25, 2007, the court granted Townley's motion to sever his trial from that of his codefendants. (Typed Opn. at p. 5.)

"Before [Townley's] trial[,] both Flores and Rocha entered into plea agreements in which the prosecution would reduce the charges in exchange for their declarations under penalty of perjury. Flores thereafter pleaded guilty to assault with a firearm subject to a three-year prison term, and the prosecutor dismissed the attempted murder charge against him. Rocha pleaded guilty to assault with force likely to produce great bodily injury, with an expected sentence of two years. On the same date that Flores and Rocha entered their pleas, April 17, 2007, the prosecution filed a motion to reconsolidate the cases against Carranco and Townley, which the court subsequently granted on April 26, 2007." (Typed Opn. at p. 5.)

B. The Trial Court's Challenged Order

Flores entered his guilty plea in a closed proceeding, and the reporter's transcript of the hearing was sealed by an order of the trial court. As a condition of his plea, Flores executed a declaration under penalty of perjury detailing his involvement in the Lazaro shooting. The court sealed the declaration, to be opened only if Flores was called as a witness at trial to testify about any matters covered in the declaration. The trial court

² Townley and Carranco were charged as adults under Welfare and Institutions Code section 707, subdivision (d)(2).

stated that the sealing order was for the protection of Flores, who had been stabbed in jail, to prevent evidence of his cooperation from circulating in the jail or prison populations. (Typed Opn. at pp. 6-7, 21.)³

Before trial, Townley's and Carranco's counsel were provided discovery, which included sheriff's department reports that summarized statements by several witnesses, including those made by Flores in two interviews. The defense attorneys also received a copy of the sheriff's tape-recorded interview with Flores. (See 7 CT 1516-1517, 1543-1564 [motion to sever filed by Townley summarizes Flores's interview with sheriff's personnel and includes as exhibits a partial copy of sheriff's report and partial copy of transcript of taped interview with Flores]⁴; 8 CT 1743, 1745-1746 [Townley's counsel acknowledges having reviewed sheriff's interview with Flores and summarizes content of interview in a discovery motion]; see 1 RT 45-46; 2 RT 387-388; 3 RT 580-581; 8 RT 1924 [court references the police reports/witness interviews provided in discovery].)

On April 24, 2007, Townley's counsel moved to compel discovery of Flores's sealed declaration. (8 CT 1741-1742.) On or about April 27, 2007, the prosecution provided both defendants' counsel a copy of Flores's sealed declaration, with the understanding that neither the declaration's existence nor its content would be discussed with their clients or others. (3 RT 551-552, 569 [counsel for both defendants acknowledge receipt of document]; 8 CT 1782; 4 RT 761 [counsel for Townley acknowledges

³ The same sealing order applied to codefendant Rocha. Rocha, however, was not called as a witness at the trial. Consequently, the appellate claim resolved below concerned only the court's consultative restriction on defense counsel as it related to witness Flores.

⁴ On January 14, 2009, the Court of Appeal took judicial notice of the entire sheriff's report. The entire tape-recorded interview with Flores provided to the defense in discovery does not appear in the appellate record.

receipt of document]; Court's Exh. 6A (sealed) [unsigned copy of declaration].)

Counsel for Carranco and Townley jointly moved to vacate the order preventing them from discussing with their clients the declarations of Rocha and Flores. (Aug. CT 34; 3 RT 568, 584.) In a hearing on May 3, 2007, from which Carranco and Townley were excluded (3 RT 549, 584), the court denied the motion, finding that it would be improper to rescind the sealing order without counsel for Flores and Rocha present. (3 RT 580.) The court emphasized that counsel for Carranco and Townley remained free to discuss with their clients the voluminous police reports and witness statements provided in discovery, as the restriction only related to discussing the "odds and ends that are in the signed statements from Mr. Flores and Mr. Rocha." (3 RT 580-581; see also 8 RT 1924.) The court observed that the defendants would be present to hear trial testimony by the witnesses, and that if Flores or Rocha testified inconsistently with their respective declarations, the witness's declaration would be unsealed and available to counsel for cross-examination. (3 RT 581-582.)

On May 4, 2007, counsel received copies of the transcript of Flores's change-of-plea hearing subject to the restriction that counsel not show the transcript to the defendants or defense investigators. (4 RT 758-759, 761; Court's Exhibit 3A [transcript of proceedings on April 17, 2007 (sealed)].)

C. Flores's Trial Testimony

On the second day of trial testimony, May 11, 2007, Flores testified as a prosecution witness. Flores's plea agreement required his sworn declaration describing the offense, but not his testimony. (11 RT 2697-2698; 12 RT 2874-2876, 2884-2885, 2887, 2905.)

At trial, Flores recounted that, around 7:00 p.m. on February 17, 2006, he received a call from his friend, Townley, asking Flores to "do[] a ride." (8 RT 1892-1893; 11 RT 2707-2708; 12 RT 2821-2824, 2832; 20 RT 4856-

4857.) Flores drove his 1992 white Honda Accord to pick up Townley and his girlfriend. (8 RT 1891, 1899; 12 RT 2825.) Townley wore a red and black plaid flannel jacket. (12 RT 2893, 2914, 2917-2918; 14 RT 3370; 17 RT 4287-4288.) In the car, Townley showed Flores a small black handgun. (8 RT 1900-1901, 1903-1904; 12 RT 2831.)

Townley directed Flores to drive to Watsonville, where they picked up Carranco and Rocha, neither of whom Flores had met before. (8 RT 1888-1890, 1905-1908; 11 RT 2705-2706; 12 RT 2832, 2834-2836; 20 RT 4890.) At Carranco's direction, Flores drove to Anthony Gonzalez's apartment on Harper Street, where Carranco and Gonzalez had a private conversation. (8 RT 1912-1914, 1917-1918; 12 RT 2839, 2843-2844, 2847.) Afterward, Carranco told Flores to drive to the Ocean Terrace Apartments, a large complex located at 17th Avenue and Merrill Street, which was known as Sureno gang territory. (8 RT 1912; 12 RT 2850-2851, 2855; 17 RT 4019-4020, 4023; 18 RT 4266.)

They saw a man walking on the sidewalk wearing a blue sweatshirt. (12 RT 2928; 13 RT 3051-3052.) Carranco in a "[k]ind of urgent" voice instructed Flores to "turn around" and "pull over," and Flores did so. (11 RT 2713-2715; 12 RT 2755-2756, 2853.) Carranco grabbed a baseball bat from the front seat of the car and jumped out of the car with Townley and Rocha. (12 RT 2759-2761, 2766-2767, 2826, 2857, 2911.) As Flores waited in the driver's seat with the engine running, he heard what sounded like firecrackers. Carranco, Townley, and Rocha ran back to the car where Carranco "urgently" told Flores to "go." (12 RT 2774, 2776-2780, 2857, 2860, 2915.) Flores sped away and followed Carranco's directions back to Gonzalez's apartment. (12 RT 2780-2781, 2784.)

On May 11, 2007, the trial court conducted a brief hearing in the presence of Flores's counsel during a break in Flores's direct examination. The court ordered that Flores's declaration be provided to both defense

counsel,⁵ but reiterated that the declaration remained "subject to the same nondisclosure to clients, to investigators, to other attorneys, it's only to be used by [Townley's counsel] and [Carranco's counsel] for purposes of doing cross-examination of Mr. Flores." (8 RT 1920-1921; see also 8 RT 1923-1924 [court overrules request by Carranco's counsel to unseal Flores's declaration].)

Thereafter, on May 23, 2007, defense counsel used Flores's declaration extensively to cross-examine Flores. Both counsel elicited the fact that the declaration stated that on the night of the crime, Flores wore a red and black plaid shirt, which was described by witnesses as the shirt worn by the shooter. (12 RT 2818-2821, 2893-2894.) Counsel for Carranco brought out Flores's admission in the declaration that he touched the clip of Hernandez's gun, a fact Flores denied at trial. (12 RT 2890.) Counsel also brought out that Flores did not mention in his declaration Carranco directing him where to drive that evening, a detail he provided at trial. (12 RT 2903-2904.) Both counsel asked Flores about his having originally been charged with attempted murder, which carried a maximum term of life in prison, and his pleading guilty to assault with a firearm for a substantially reduced three-year prison sentence. (12 RT 2874-2876, 2884-

⁵ This appears to be the declaration provided to counsel by the prosecutor on April 27, 2007. (8 CT 1782; 3 RT 551, 569; 4 RT 761.)

⁶ Flores's declaration was marked as Defense Exhibit B, but was not admitted into evidence. (See 12 RT 2885-2886.)

⁷ In response to this inquiry, Flores explained that he had worn a black shirt on the night of the shooting and that the contrary statement in the declaration was wrong. (12 RT 2818-2821, 2893-2894.) Flores's testimony was consistent with other evidence, including Townley's girlfriend's testimony that on the night of the shooting Townley wore a black and red pendleton shirt that she had given him as a gift (14 RT 3370), and evidence that Townley was in possession of a black and red shirt during an interview with police later that night (15 RT 3531; 20 RT 4830).

2885; 13 RT 3041.) Counsel for Carranco brought out that at the time of his plea agreement, Flores had to sign a declaration under penalty of perjury that set forth the circumstances surrounding the shooting. (12 RT 2886-2887.) Counsel for Carranco elicited on cross-examination that the declaration included these provisions: (1) "I understand that I have to acknowledge to the Judge in open court and under oath the contents of this declaration are true at the time I enter my plea"; and (2) "I understand that if called as a witness I must tell the truth." (12 RT 2908-2909.) Notwithstanding the permissible use by both counsel during Flores's crossexamination of information in the plea-bargain documents, the documents themselves remained under seal during trial. The trial court instructed the jury, "[Y]ou're entitled to know some of the circumstances involving Mr. Flores's plea in this case because it goes to an issue of his credibility, and it's one of the factors that you'll be told you can consider in weighing his credibility." (12 RT 2876-2877.) It further instructed that "[t]he declaration of Noe Flores that you heard about in this case was a part of his plea agreement with the District Attorney's office." (21 RT 5071.)

D. Further Prosecution Evidence

The man wearing the blue sweatshirt, 29-year-old Javier Lazaro, lived at the Ocean Terrace Apartments. He was not a gang member. (6 RT 1279-1281.) Lazaro was walking towards his apartment around 9:00 p.m., when he noticed an older white Honda stop in the street, and heard a heated exchange and someone say "come" in Spanish. Lazaro ignored the commotion and kept walking. (6 RT 1283-1287, 1306-1309; 7 RT 1505-1506; 11 RT 2650-2651.) Three or four men jumped out of the car, ran towards him, and in Spanish demanded to know whether he was a Norteno or a Sureno. Lazaro fled, terrified. (6 RT 1312, 1316-1317; 7 RT 1508, 1512.) Something hit him, and he fell. (6 RT 1297, 1300-1301.)

Lazaro was shot five times, and he sustained injuries to his right hand, his right knee, his left thigh, his back, and his abdomen. The bullet that entered his back fractured his rib and bruised his lung. Two bullets were not surgically removed and remained in his body. (11 RT 2513-2528, 2532, 2536.) He did not see who had shot him. (6 RT 1312, 1316-1317; 7 RT 1508, 1512.)

Ginger Weisel and David Bacon witnessed the attack. Weisel saw three men quickly approach Lazaro, call out "mother-fucking scrap," and demand to know where Lazaro was from. Lazaro responded that he did not "claim" anything and was simply going home. One man approached within three feet of Lazaro and shot him six to eight times in rapid succession. Lazaro fell to the ground as the man continued to shoot. The other two men stood within two to seven feet of the shooter. (11 RT 2650-2653, 2679, 2682, 2691-2692; 20 RT 4864-4865.) The shooter wore a red and black plaid shirt and was approximately five feet nine inches tall. (11 RT 2653-2655, 2668, 2671; 14 RT 3363-3365.)⁸

Bacon was driving his car when he heard what sounded like firecrackers. He turned around and saw a man standing in a shooting position, with his arm outstretched and pointed towards the ground. Bacon saw muzzle flashes and heard five or six shots in rapid succession. Bacon was about 50 percent certain the shooter wore a plaid jacket. A second person stood within 20 feet of the shooter acting as a "lookout." (7 RT 1526-1534, 1538, 1540-1541; 8 RT 1782-1784, 1797, 1799.)

Randi Fritts-Nash was drinking at the Harper Street apartment when Townley, Flores, Carranco, and Rocha returned. (14 RT 3230, 3285-3289,

⁸ Townley was about five feet seven inches tall. Carranco was about five feet six inches tall. Rocha was about five feet nine inches tall. Flores was between five feet six inches and five feet seven inches tall. (20 RT 4837, 4844, 4846; 21 RT 5067-5069.)

3292-3294.) She heard a car pull up and, shortly thereafter, a tap on the window. Gonzalez went to the window and spoke briefly with someone outside. The voices outside sounded anxious and fearful, and Fritts-Nash overheard the words "hit" and "scrap." She could not say who uttered them. (13 RT 3111-3118; 14 RT 3282-3283, 3298-3300, 3550-3551; 16 RT 3874; 17 RT 4022.) Minutes later, Townley, Carranco, Flores, and Rocha entered the apartment. (12 RT 2790-2792, 2864-2865; 13 RT 3121-3123.) Fritts-Nash recounted that Townley wore a red and black plaid jacket and that he referred to the Watsonville Nortenos at one point in the conversation. (13 RT 36123-3124, 3129-3130; 14 RT 3304.) After Carranco and Gonzalez conversed in hushed tones, Carranco and Rocha left in a white sport utility vehicle. (12 RT 2793-2796, 2798, 2800, 2866-2867; 13 RT 3126-3127, 3138-3139; 14 RT 3305-3308, 3311, 3342-3343.)

Not long after, police arrived at the Harper Street apartment, which was a known gang hangout. (15 RT 3510-3513.) As police spoke to people in the living room, Townley and Fritts-Nash remained in Gonzalez's bedroom. (13 RT 3137; 14 RT 3313.) Townley removed a small black gun from his pocket and wiped it down for fingerprints. He told Fritts-Nash that he needed to hide the gun and that he was "looking at 25 to life." He secreted the gun in one shoe and a small velvet bag of bullets in the other. When Fritts-Nash asked if he shot someone, Townley rolled his head in a circular fashion and did not deny it. (13 RT 3140-3146; 14 RT 3317-3324.)

In a later search, police found a .25-caliber handgun and 20 live rounds of .25-caliber ammunition on Townley. (9 RT 2063-2068, 2072; 11 RT 2577.) Five gunshot casings recovered at the crime scene were the same caliber and manufacturer as those found in Townley's shoe. (17 RT 4029, 4032, 4047.) Townley's hands and the sleeves of his red and black plaid jacket tested positive for gunshot residue, with the largest

concentration on the right hand and the right shirt sleeve. (9 RT 2069-2070; 13 RT 3066-3069, 3073-3077, 3080.)

E. Defense Case

Townley did not testify. He called Lori Kaminski as an expert in gunshot residue. (21 RT 5036.) She explained various ways a person can come into contact with gunshot residue without actually firing a gun. She opined that it is unreliable to conclude that a person fired a gun based solely on the presence of gunshot residue on that person's hands or clothing. (21 RT 5036, 5039-5040, 5042-5043, 5047-5048, 5052, 5061, 5065.)

F. Verdict and Appeal

A jury convicted Townley of willful, premeditated, and deliberate attempted murder with personal use of a gun and personal infliction of great bodily injury. (9 CT 2004, 2024-2030.) He was sentenced to life imprisonment for attempted murder and to 25 years to life for the firearm enhancement. (12 CT 2884-2885, 2887.)

On appeal, Townley claimed a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to consult his attorney. The claim was based on the trial court's order prohibiting defense counsel from disclosing to Townley the contents or existence of the declaration executed by Flores and the change-of-plea transcript prepared in Flores's case.

Pursuant to an order of the Sixth District on April 15, 2008, the plea transcripts of Flores and Rocha, and copies of their declarations were provided to appellate counsel, but remain under seal. (Court's Exhibits 3A, 4A, 5A, 6A; RT 761.)

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