IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) No. S178823
Plaintiff/Respondent,	
v.	SUPREME COURT
JACOB TOWNLEY HERNANDEZ,	; FILED
Defendant/Appellant.))) JUN 1 7 2010
) Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	Deputy FILED WITH PERMISSION

Sixth Appellate District No. H031992 Santa Cruz County Superior Court No. F12934 The Honorable Jeff Almquist

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARC J. ZILVERSMIT, Esq., SBN 132057 523 Octavia Street San Francisco, CA 94102 Telephone: (415) 431-3472 Fax: (415) 552-2703

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant JACOB TOWNLEY HERNANDEZ

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

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

(3RT 580-581 [emphasis added].) By telling counsel that he could talk about the voluminous discovery with his client but "without the odds and ends that are in the signed statements," the court's order suggested that counsel should not discuss allegations that were contained in the signed declarations, even if the allegations are also contained in other discovery.

Later, when the court provided defense counsel with the declarations, the court reiterated that the declarations were,

subject to the same nondisclosure to clients, to investigators, to other attorneys, it's only to be used by Mr. Cave and Mr. Dudley for purposes of doing cross-examination of Mr. Flores. . . . [Y]ou may not share the contents of the documents with your clients.

(8RT 1921 [emphasis added].) Again, by ordering counsel not to share the "contents of the documents" with his client, the court appeared to preclude counsel from talking about any the "contents" of the declaration, whether or not the allegations could be found in other statements, other discovery or Flores's subsequent testimony.

The Court of Appeal thus rejected the state's position and agreed with Appellant Townley. "We do not believe that the scope of the court's order was that clear." (*Hernandez*, Slip. Op. at p. 20). The Court of Appeal found the trial court's order "ambiguous," and noted that the court's "order could be reasonably interpreted as prohibiting counsel from discussing the contents of the declaration with Townley even after Flores testified to the contents." (*Id.*)

4. At Least Twenty-Two Details Contained In The Declaration That Were Not Contained In The Police Reports.

Moreover, regardless of the ambiguities in the order, contrary to the state's argument, the discovery did *not* contain all of the allegations in Flores's declaration. The four-page declaration contained at least twenty-two distinct details not contained in the police reports. (Exhibit 6A.)

111

///

///

///

///

///

111

[Page Filed Under Seal]

[Page Filed Under Seal]

B. The Supreme Court's Decisions In Geders And Perry
Establish That A Lengthy Violation Of A "Defendant's
Right To Unrestricted Access To His Lawyer For Advice
On A Variety Of Trial-Related Matters" Is Structural
Error Requiring Reversal Without A Showing Of
Prejudice.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall . . . have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." (U.S. Const. amend VI.) "The core of this right has historically been, and remains today, 'the opportunity for a defendant to consult with an attorney and to have him investigate the case and prepare a defense for trial." (Kansas v. Ventris (2009) 129 S.Ct. 1841, 1844-45, quoting Michigan v. Harvey (1990) 494 U.S. 344, 348.)

As the state recognizes, in *United States v. Cronic* (1984) 466 U.S. 648, the Supreme Court made clear that while a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel requires a showing of prejudice, "there are, however, circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified." (*Id.* at p. 658.) Thus, the *Cronic* Court noted, "[t]he Court has uniformly found constitutional error without any showing of prejudice when counsel was either totally absent, or prevented from assisting the accused during a critical stage of the proceeding." (*Id.* at p. 659 fn.25.)

In Holloway v. Arkansas (1975) 435 U.S. 475, 489-491, the trial

court's order required counsel to represent three codefendants with conflicting interests. The government argued that structural error was reserved for cases involving the complete denial of counsel, but the Supreme Court disagreed: "The mere physical presence of an attorney does not fulfill the Sixth Amendment guarantee" when the trial court's order has "effectively sealed his lips on crucial matters." (*Id.* at p. 490.) The Court made clear that reversal was required without a showing of prejudice because the court's unconstitutional order affected the strategic decisions about what evidence to present at trial, pretrial plea negotiations and sentencing. (*Id.* at pp. 490-491.)

In particular, amongst the type of structural errors requiring reversal without a showing of prejudice which were identified by the *Cronic* Court, is a trial court's restriction on an attorney's consultation with his or her client. (See id., citing Geders v. United States (1976) 425 U.S. 80; see also Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 686, citing Geders, 425 U.S. 80.)

In *Geders*, the Supreme Court held that a trial court's order directing the defendant not to consult with his attorney during an overnight recess violated the Sixth Amendment. (*Geders*, 425 U.S. at pp. 88-91.) The trial court had ordered all witnesses not to discuss their testimony with anyone. (*Id.* at pp. 88-89.) Pursuant to that ruling, the trial court ordered the

defendant "not to discuss your testimony in this case with anyone" and told counsel, "I just think it is better that he not talk to you about anything." (*Id.* at pp. 82-83 & fn.1.)

The Supreme Court noted that sequestration of non-defendant witnesses is a valid exercise of the court's power to control trial proceedings and may serve a number of permissible purposes. (*Id.* at p. 87.) Yet, the *Geders* Court noted that a "sequestration order affects a defendant in quite a different way from the way it affects a nonparty witness," because "a defendant in a criminal case must often consult with his attorney during the trial." (*Id.* at p. 88.) The Court noted the seventeen-hour overnight recess would necessarily restrict consultation beyond discussion of the ongoing testimony:

It is common practice during such recesses for an accused and counsel to discuss the events of the day's trial. Such recesses are often times of intensive work, with tactical decisions to be made and strategies to be reviewed. The lawyer may need to obtain from his client information made relevant by the day's testimony, or he may need to pursue inquiry along lines not fully explored earlier. At the very least, the overnight recess during trial gives the defendant a chance to discuss with counsel the significance of the day's events. Our cases recognize that the role of counsel is important precisely because ordinarily a defendant is ill-equipped to understand and deal with the trial process without a lawyer's guidance.

(Id.) While preventing coaching of witnesses was also important to the

integrity of the judicial system, the *Geders* Court made clear that any "conflict must, under the Sixth Amendment, be resolved in favor of the right to the assistance and guidance of counsel." (*Id.* at p. 91.)

Thus, the Court reversed without any inquiry into prejudice, because the defendant had been deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to have "the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him." (*Id.* at p. 89, quoting *Powell v. Alabama* (1932) 287 U.S. 45, 68-69; see id. at p. 91 ["We hold that an order preventing petitioner from consulting his counsel 'about anything' during a 17-hour overnight recess between his direct- and cross-examination impinged upon his right to the assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment."])

Subsequently, in *Perry v. Leeke* (1989) 488 U.S. 272, the Court addressed a trial court's order that a defendant not consult with counsel during a fifteen-minute break in the defendant's testimony. (*Id.* at pp. 280-281.) The *Perry* Court clarified that the jurisprudence of the defendant's right to consult with counsel during trial. The Court made clear that,

when a defendant becomes a witness, he has no constitutional right to consult with his lawyer while he is testifying. He has an absolute right to such consultation before he begins to testify, but neither he nor his lawyer has a right to have the testimony interrupted in order to give him the benefit of counsel's advice.

(Id. at p. 281.) Because a defendant has no right to have her testimony

interrupted in order to consult with counsel, the Court held that a trial court is within its power to declare a brief recess and order the defendant not to consult with counsel during that brief recess, "in which there is a virtual certainty that any conversation between the witness and the lawyer would relate to the ongoing testimony." (*Id.* at pp. 283-284.)

The *Perry* Court distinguished the brief interruption of testimony from an overnight recess:

The interruption in Geders was of a different character because the normal consultation between attorney and client that occurs during an overnight recess would encompass matters that go beyond the content of the defendant's own testimony—matters that the defendant does have a constitutional right to discuss with his lawyer, such as the availability of other witnesses, trial tactics, or even the possibility of negotiating a plea bargain. It is the defendant's right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for advice on a variety of trial-related matters that is controlling in the context of a long recess.

(*Id.*, citing *Geders*, 425 U.S. at p. 88 [emphasis added].) Moreover, the Court held that "[t]he fact that such discussions will inevitably include some consideration of the defendant's ongoing testimony does not compromise that basic right." (*Perry*, 488 U.S. at p. 284).

Finally, the Court clarified that a *Geders* violation requires reversal without the need to show prejudice:

There is merit in petitioner's argument that a showing of prejudice is not an essential component of a

violation of the rule announced in Geders.

(Id. at pp. 278-279 (emphasis added].) The Perry Court noted that the reversal without considering prejudice "was consistent with the view we have often expressed concerning the fundamental importance of the criminal defendant's constitutional right to be represented by counsel."

(Id.) The Court particularly noted that its holding was consistent with the Court's holding in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, in which the Court distinguished cases challenging the actual effectiveness of counsel which require a showing of prejudice from cases such as Geders which involve a government interference "with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions about how to conduct the defense." (Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; see Perry, 488 U.S. at 280 [quoting same].) The Perry holding was without dissent on this key issue, as was Geders.

Although, as the state points out, the Supreme Court has declined to extend the presumption of prejudice to a variety of different situations involving ineffective assistance of counsel (Govt. Brief at pp. 27-28 [citing cases]), none of the cases cited involve restrictions on the right of the defendant to the advice of counsel on trial-related matters during trial, nor

⁶ Geders was unanimous. In *Perry*, three justices would have found structural error even in the case of a brief recess. (*Perry*, 488 U.S. at 285 [Marshall, Brennan, and Blackmun, JJ., dissenting].)

do they involve interference with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions about conducting the defense.⁹ The *Perry* Court expressly distinguished cases involving ineffective assistance of counsel from court orders restricting consultation—"direct governmental interference with the right to counsel is a different matter." *Perry*, 488 U.S. at p. 279. Moreover,

The precedential effect of many of the cases cited by the state is further clouded because they are habeas cases arising under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act which permits reversal only when the state court judgment is an unreasonable interpretation of settled Supreme Court precedent. 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1). (See Wright v. Van Patten (2008) 552 U.S. 120, 124-125 (per curiam) [no clear Supreme Court precedent establishes that counsel's appearance by speaker-phone interferes with defendant's right to assistance of counsel where arrangement did not prevent discussion between counsel and defendant]; Bell, 535 U.S. at pp. 699-702.)

⁹ See Florida v. Nixon (2004) 543 U.S. 175, 189-190 (declining to extend a per se reversal rule where defense counsel made a strategic decision not to contest his client's guilt, in order to retain credibility in arguing mitigation at the penalty phase); Bell v. Cone (2002) 535 U.S. 685, 691-692, 695-696 (declining to require reversal per se where counsel made a strategic decision to waive closing argument in order to prevent the prosecutor from making a more damaging closing argument); Roe v. Flores-Ortega (2000) 528 U.S. 470, 482 (declining to extend a per se reversal rule where counsel failed to file a notice of appeal); Morris v. Slappy (1983) 461 U.S. 1, 10-12 (in a pre-Cronic case, Court found no error in denying the defendant's personal request for a continuance when a new public defender took over his case six days before trial, declared that he was ready to proceed, and obtained a hung jury on the most serious counts); see also Mickens v. Taylor (2002) 535 U.S. 162, 166 (declining to extend presumption of prejudice to conflict of interest case); People v. Rundle (2008) 43 Cal.4th 76, 164-174 (declining to extend presumption of prejudice to attorney's conflict of interest with witness at post-trial juror misconduct hearing that did not affect trial), disapproved in People v. Doolin (2009) 45 Cal.4th 390, 421.)

as the state concedes (Govt. Brief at p. 25), since *Perry*, the Supreme Court has repeatedly reaffirmed this distinction, and has repeatedly reaffirmed that *Geders* error requires reversal without a showing of prejudice. (*See*, *e.g.*, *Bell v. Cone* (2002) 535 U.S. 685, 696, fn.3; *Mickens v. Taylor* (2002) 535 U.S. 162, 166.)

Furthermore, no court has questioned this holding, as the state urges here. Every court since Perry has held that any trial court order that violates the "defendant's right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for advice on a variety of trial-related matters" is structural error, reversible per se. (See United States v. Johnson (5th Cir. 2001) 267 F.3d 376, 377-380 [order precluded consultation with counsel during overnight recesses]; Jones v. Vacco (2d Cir. 1997) 126 F.3d 408, 416 [order precluded consultation with counsel during weekend recess); United States v. Cobb (4th Cir. 1990) 905 F.2d 784, 791-793, cert denied, 498 U.S. 1049 (1991) [prohibition of defendant's discussions with counsel concerning his testimony over weekend recess required reversal per se]; Mudd v. United States (D.C. Cir. 1986) 798 F.2d 1509, 1512 [prior to Perry, court held error was reversible per se where attorney told not to discuss defendant's testimony with defendant during overnight recess]; Martin v. United States (D.C. App. 2010) 991 A.2d 791, 793-795 [order forbidding defendant from discussing testimony with counsel during a weekend recess in the middle of

testimony required reversal without a showing of prejudice]; State v. Futo (Mo. App. 1996) 932 S.W.2d 808, 815 [two-and-a-half day prohibition of defendant's discussions with counsel concerning his testimony violates the Sixth Amendment]; State v. Fusco (1983) 93 N.J. 578, 461 A.2d 1169, 1174-75 [holding prior to *Perry* that overnight ban on discussion of defendant's testimony required reversal per se]; see also United States v. Sandoval-Mendoza (9th Cir. 2006) 472 F.3d 645, 650-652 [finding Geders error where defendant ordered not to discuss testimony with counsel, but declining to decide whether error was structural because Court reversed on other error]; Moore v. Purkett (8th Cir. 2001) 275 F.3d 685, 688-689 [prohibition on attorney consulting quietly with defendant during trial violated principle of Geders and required reversal per se]; United States v. Santos (7th Cir. 2000) 201 F.3d 953, 965-966 [finding Geders error where defendant ordered not to discuss testimony with counsel but declining to decide whether error was structural because Court reversed on other error]; United States v. Romano (11th Cir. 1984) 736 F.2d 1432, 1439, vacated in part on rehearing on other grounds (11th Cir. 1985) 755 F.2d 1401 [prior to *Perry*, finding Sixth Amendment violation where the court ordered defendant not to discuss his testimony with counsel during a recess that spanned five days].)

Conversely, no court since Perry has adopted the novel position that

the state urges here—that some restrictions on the defendant's "right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for advice on a variety of trial-related matters" (*Perry*, 488 U.S. at p. 284 [emphasis added]) are reviewed for harmless error.¹⁰ This Court should not become the first court to hold that *Geders* error may be reviewed for harmlessness.¹¹

///

///

///

111

///

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